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The following is a Company Announcement issued by ST. ANTHONY CO. P.L.C., a company registered under
the laws of Malta with company registration number C 95618 (hereinafter the “Company”), pursuant to the
Capital Markets Rules issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority in accordance with the provisions of
the Financial Markets Act (Chapter 345 of the laws of Malta), as amended from time to time.

Quote
Approval and Publication of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements

The Company hereby announces that during the meeting of its Board of Directors held on 27" June 2022, the
Company’s Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 315 December 2021
were approved.

The Board of Directors shall be recommending to the Annual General Meeting of the Company that no final
dividend be declared in respect of the financial year ended 315 December 2021.

In accordance with Capital Markets Rule 5.16.24, the Company reports that the financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 show a variance of more than 10% when compared to the results projected in the
Financial Analysis Summary dated 6™ December 2021.

The forecasted results illustrated in the Financial Analysis Summary for the year ended 31% December 2021 were
as follows:

e Loss for the year before taxation of €623,000

e Profit for the year after taxation of €45,000

e Total comprehensive income for the year of €7,481,000

e Shareholders’ funds as at 31% December 2021 of €20,903,000

The corresponding amounts illustrated in the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year
ended 315 December 2021 were as follows:

e Loss for the year before taxation of €1,206,637

e Loss for the year after taxation of €1,400,207

e Total comprehensive income for the year of €9,021,292

e Shareholders’ funds as at 315 December 2021 of €22,391,062

The higher loss for the year before taxation was a result of slightly lower revenue (3% less) and higher costs
mainly due to a shortage of labour which resulted in operating inefficiencies and cost overruns. Both revenue
and expenses were negatively affected by the rise in COVID-19 cases in the last quarter of 2021. Furthermore,
the depreciation charge on tangible fixed assets as illustrated in the audited financial statements was higher
than anticipated, however, this was partly compensated by lower finance costs incurred, as a result of the delay
in the bond issue from quarter 4 2021 to quarter 1 2022. The higher tax charge for the year was mainly a result
of expenses incurred which are not allowed for tax purposes, together with other permanent differences. The
improvement in the total comprehensive income for the year is a result of the higher valuation (net of tax) of
the properties owned by the Group, this is also the main reason for the increase in the shareholders’ funds as at
315 December 2021.

The Board of Directors resolved that the aforesaid Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements be submitted
to the shareholders of the Company for their approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting scheduled
to take place on 6% July 2022.
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A copy of the Company’s Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31°
December 2021, as approved, is available for viewing below as an attachment to this announcement and at the
Company’s registered office, and is also available for download from the following link on the Company’s
website: https://stanthonyplc.com.mt/company-notifications-and-publications/.

It is further announced that, in accordance with Capital Markets Rule 5.61, the Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements of Goldvest Company Limited (C 18266), the guarantor of the €15.5 million 4.55% Secured
Bonds 2032 issued by the Company in terms of a prospectus dated 6™ December 2021 (the “Guarantor”), for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 have been approved by the board of directors of the Guarantor on
the 27% June 2022. A copy of the aforesaid Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements in respect of the
Guarantor is also available for viewing and download from the webpage indicated above.

The aforementioned Annual Financial Reports are not prepared in terms of the requirements of the Capital
Markets Rules issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority, given that during the financial reporting year in
question, ended on 315 December 2021, the Company was not yet listed.

Unquote

By order of the Board

Dr Luca Vella
Company Secretary
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors present their report and the audited separate and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Principal Activity

St. Anthony Co. p.l.c. (“the Company”, “the Parent") acts as the parent company of two 100% owned subsidiary undertakings,
namely Goldvest Company Limited (C 18266) and St. George's Care Ltd (C 95621) (collectively “the Group"). The Company also
provides finance to its two subsidiaries.

During 2020, the Group commenced a corporate restructuring exercise aimed to streamlining operations of its subsidiaries. As part
of this exercise, St. Anthony Co p.l.c. was incorporated as the holding company. Goldvest Company Limited now owns the two
properties of the Group, whilst St. George's Care Ltd operates two senior citizens' homes from the two properties mentioned above,
one in Sliema known as The Imperial and the other in Balzan named Casa Antonia.

Review of Business

The Group registered a pre-tax loss for the year of €1,206,636 compared to a restated loss for the year of €263,173 registered in the
seven and a half months in the prior period. At the end of the reporting period, net assets amounted to €22,391,062 compared to
€13,369,770 at the end of the prior period. This improvement is a result of the revaluation of the Group's properties.

As further explained in note 4.3, the 2020 financial statements were restated to account for the reorganisation of the components
within the Group in a consistent manner, this resulted in certain transactions being reclassified between the income statement, the
revaluation reserve, the reorganisation reserve and the statement of comprehensive income.

The Group was very active in 2021. Besides the corporate restructuring mentioned above, the Group finalised the construction and
finishing of The Imperial senior citizens' home in Sliema, receiving its first guests in May and obtained approval from the Malta
Financial Services Authority for the issue of €15.5m 4.55% secured bonds due in 2032 issued by the Company on the Official List of
the Malta Stock Exchange in terms of a prospectus dated 6 December 2021. The said bond issue was successfully taken up and
concluded in the first quarter of 2022; specifically, the bonds were admitted to listing on the Official List with effect from the 20
January 2022 and trading commenced on the 21 January 2022. The bond issue is guaranteed by Goldvest Company Limited
(C18266).

Although the achieved results described above were less than those projected in the Prospectus, management deem the results to

be satisfactory given the challenges the sector continued to face as a result of the COVID 19 pandemic, effecting both revenue and
a shortage of labor which resulted in operating inefficiencies and cost overruns.

Dividends and Reserves

Given the financial results achieved, the directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's activities potentially expose it to financial risks mainly liquidity and credit risk. The Group's overall risk management
focuses on the unpredictability of general economic activity and financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering risks
referred to above

(a) Liguidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of reasonable credit terms with suppliers and
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities both externally and with related parties.

(b) Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. It has policies in place to ensure that services are provided to individual

customers who are not expected to default on invoices issued.
1



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Report of the Directors (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Principal risks and uncertainties
The Group's principal risks and uncertainties can be categorised as follows:
Operational risks

a) Achieving and maintaining sufficient occupancy levels and generating sufficient cash flow to meet obligations as
they fall due.

The Group expects to achieve certain occupancy levels at both homes and generate sufficient cash flow to meet the Group’s
obligations as they fall due. Whilst the performance of Casa Antonia is tried and tested as this has been operating for a
significant number of years, the expected performance of The Imperial has been forecasted based on market data which is
subjective and may vary materially. Furthermore, the Group is seeking to provide a unique and quality product offering as
part of The Imperial operations which reduces the size of the market able to take up such offering.

Once occupancy levels are achieved, there is the risk that these may fall for various reasons including but not limited to
COVID-19, reputational damage and/or a slowdown in the market. Reduced occupancy levels at either the Casa Antonia
property or The Imperial property may adversely impact the Group's revenue and general financial performance.

b) Staff compliment

The Group's operations require the employment and retention of an appropriately skilled and trained workforce. There is a
risk that St. George's Care Ltd, as the operating company, may not be able to maintain or expand an appropriately skilled
and trained workforce that is able to meet the existing or future care needs of residents for various reasons including but not
limited to industry shortage, travel restrictions and an increase in wages which cannot be absorbed and/or recouped. Should
it not be possible to recruit accordingly thereby lessening the quality of the offering and this translates into decreased
occupancy, or should it be possible to recruit but this results in increased wages and therefore operating costs which cannot
be recouped through rates and/or other savings, the Group's revenue and profitability may suffer.

¢) Competition

The industry in which the Group operates is highly competitive. In addition to normal competitive risks, the fact that the
Company has opted to provide a high-quality offering at The Imperial property, thereby reducing the market available to it,
may, should a competitor decide to open in the same space, cause a reduction in prices, resident losses and thinning
margins, thereby having a potentially direct material adverse effect on the financial performance and profitability of the
Group.

d) Fixed costs

The fixed costs associated with the ownership of the Group's afore-mentioned properties and the carrying out of the
operations is substantial. A dip in demand and the inability to adjust fixed costs may adversely affect the Group’s profitability
and financial condition.

e) Medical claims and litigation

In addition to the risk of litigation typical operations may carry, the nature of the operations inherently exposes the Group to
the risk of medical related litigation. Subject to the insurance arrangements the Group has in place, any actual or threatened
medical related litigation against the Group could cause the Group to incur significant expenditure and may adversely impact
the Group’s future financial performance. The costs of such actions as well as increased insurance costs could also
adversely affect the Group's financial performance and profitability.

f) Maintaining licence

The Group's operations are conducted under a licence granted in terms of the Social Care Standards Authority Act (Chapter
582 of the Laws of Malta), with such licence being renewed on a yearly basis. Should the renewal of the licence be delayed
for any reason (or ultimately not granted), either or both of the operations would be unable to continue, which would
adversely impact the Group's revenue and general financial performance.



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Report of the Directors (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Principal risks and uncertainties - continued
g) Changes to regulations

Any regulatory changes for the aged care industry may, in terms of compliance costs and other regulatory requirements,
have an adverse impact on the properties and the manner in which the operations are carried out which could have a
negative impact on the Group's financial performance and profitability.

COVID-19 and other pandemic risks

a) Maltese economy: COVID-19 may have a significant impact on the Maltese economy, particularly due to Malta's heavy
reliance on the tourism industry. As a result, and despite the Government's financial assistance initiatives for the economy, it
is expected that the occurrence of defaults on loan payments (both personal and business) will rise, which may threaten the
banking sector and the country’s financial stability. The Group has already secured adequate financing that it currently feels
is required, however the impact that the crisis has on the economy may likewise, impact the Group's financial prospects and
there can be no assurance that, should the Group need additional financing, such financing will be readily available or
available at sustainable rates.

b) Operations: the economic risks of the coronavirus pandemic, which will very likely result in a deep recession in the world-
wide economy in the short to medium term, as well as the measures in place to combat the pandemic, may impact the
Group's operations. The biggest threat is ensuring occupancy levels as well as staff compliment. Should the economy shrink,
resulting in less disposable income for the average consumer, the Group's product offering may be deemed surplus to
certain families, particularly with respect to operations at The Imperial which aims to provide a more exclusive offering at a
different price point. Furthermore, should the situation worsen, and the borders again close, the Company's ability to make
up and maintain its staff compliment at the properties may be impacted. Furthermore, the operations are particularly
vulnerable to COVID-19 due to the very nature of the product offering and clientele.

Market value

The valuations of both properties are prepared by an independent qualified architect in accordance with the Kamra tal-Periti
Valuation Standards (2012), which are aligned with the TEGoVA European Valuation Standards. In providing a market value
for each property, the independent architect has made certain assumptions which ultimately may cause the actual value to
be materially different from any future value that may be expressed or implied by such forward looking statements or
anticipated on the basis of historical trends as reality may not match the assumptions. There can therefore be no assurance
that such property valuations will reflect actual market values.

Future Developments

The board's main objective is focused to achieve the occupancy targeted levels and recover sufficient revenue to cover the
operating expenses and to build up cash reserves to settle the Group's commitments as they fall due.

Directors’ Interest

As illustrated in note 19 to these financial statements, only Mr Edward Vella, a member of the Board of Directors, has a
beneficial interest in the shares of the Company.



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Report of the Directors (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Post balance sheet events
As illustrated in note 21, the Group encountered the following events up to the approval of these financial statements:

a) In January 2022 the Company successfully raised €15,500,000 via the issue of 4.55% secured bonds due to mature in
2032. These instruments started trading on the Official List of the Malta Stock Exchange on 21 January 2022. The funds
raised from the issue of the bonds were used to restructure the Group debt and for general corporate funding purposes, as
set out in the prospectus dated 6 December 2021. In fact, the net current liability position that existed at 31 December 2021
was substantially addressed.

b) The military conflict between Russia and Ukraine which commenced in February 2022, has resulted in increased volatility
in commodities, securities and currencies, with the EU and other countries having imposed restrictive measures against
Russia and key Russian individuals. The Group does not have any direct exposure to Russia however the Group may be
negatively affected by unforeseen material price increases in food and supplies and services.

c) The negative effect caused by the COVID pandemic since the outbreak in early 2020 continued to subside in 2022, as
most of the restrictions imposed by governments alobally have been lifted.

Compliance with the listing rules
These audited financial statements are not prepared in terms of the requirements of the Capital Markets Rules issued by the

Malta Financial Services Authority, given that during the financial reporting year in question, ended on 31 December 2021,
the Company was not yet listed.

Auditors
KSi Malta have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment will be

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Approved by the Board of directors and signed on its behalf on 27 June 2022 by:
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Dr Sarah Cassar Mr Edward Vella

Director S Director




St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Directors’ Responsibilities

For the year ended 31 December 2021

The Companies Act, 1995 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and practice which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the holding company as at the end of each financial period and of the profit or loss of the Group and the holding
company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required fo:

- adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the holding company will
continue in business;

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting period to another;

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the accruals basis:

- value separately the components of asset and liability items; and

- report comparative figures corresponding to those of the preceding accounting period.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and holding company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act, 1995 enacted in Malta.

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and holding company and for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Mr Edward Vella
obo/Directors



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Corporate Governance Statement

As explained in the Directors' report, the Company's debt instruments were not admitted to listing and trading on the Official
List of the Malta Stock Exchange by the year-end. Therefore, these financial statements have not been prepared in
accordance with the Capital Markets Rules. Consequently, in the year under review ended on 31 December 2021, the
Company was not set up to abide by the Code of Principles for Good Corporate Governance set out in the Capital Markets
Rules.
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the shareholders of St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of St Anthony Co. p.l.c. (the Group and the Holding
Company), set out on pages 11 to 58, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the
Holding company as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive
issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) in Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed
to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the pracedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying financial statements.

Fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment.

The Group's land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, which are being further described in Note 12 and
13 to the accompanying financial statements, account for 53% of total assets as at 31 December 2021. Land and buildings
are measured at fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The Group uses the services of professional qualified and independent valuers or surveyors to revalue the land and
buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, on the basis of assessments of the fair value of the property in
accordance with international valuation standards and best practice. The valuations are arrived at by a combination of the
income capitalisation approach, the replacement cost approach and the market approach as applicable.

In the years where a valuation is not obtained, management verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report,
assesses any property valuation movements when compared to the previous valuation report and holds discussions with the
independent valuer, as necessary.

A
8, Villa Gauci, Mdina Road. Balzan, BZNS031, Matlta (EU) W) Morison KSi
Tel +356 21 226 176 | Fax: +356 2122 6019 | info@ksimaltacom | www ksimalta.com



s KSi Malta

St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the shareholders of St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key Audit Matters (continued)
The valuation of property at fair value is highly dependent on estimates and assumptions such as:
« the capitalisation rate, rental income and respective growth rate under the income capitalisation approach;

*+ the estimated land value and going rates for construction, finishing, services and fittings under the replacement cost
approach; and

* the market prices for comparable advertised properties under the market approach.

Therefore, due to the significance of the balances and the estimation uncertainty involved in the fair valuation of properties,
we have considered the fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, as a key audit
matter,

Our audit procedures over the fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties included amongst others:

+ performing tests relating to the valuation of the Group's property, focusing on management reviews over the property
valuations by inspecting management analysis and minutes of meetings of the board and audit committee where such
valuation was discussed:;

* obtaining an understanding of the scope of work of the professional valuers by reviewing the available valuation reports
and considered the independence and expertise thereof;

* evaluating the reasonability and validity of key assumptions and estimates used in the valuations by comparing to
independent sources and relevant market data and conditions; and

« obtaining written confirmations, where required, from the professional valuers in relation to the classification of the land
and building elements making up the total fair value of the properties in question

We also assessed the relevance and adequacy of disclosures relating to the Group's fair valuation of land and buildings
classified as property, plant and equipment presented in Notes 13 to the accompanying financial statements.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report of the Directors and the
Directors' Responsibilities. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover this information. In
connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

With respect to the Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the Report of the Directors includes the disclosures
required by Article 177 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386). Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion:

+ the information given in the Report of the Directors for the financial period for which the financial statements are prepare
is consistent with the financial statements: and
- the Report of the Directors has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.386).

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Holding company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the Report of the
Directors. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concemn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic altemative
but to do so.

)
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists refated to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

+ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

F
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act

Our Responsibilities
We have responsibilities under the Companies Act, 1995 enacted in Malta to report to you if, in our opinion:

* The information given in the Report of the Directors is not consistent with the financial statements.
* Adequate accounting records have not been kept.

* The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

= We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Our Opinion

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.
Use of our Report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company's shareholders as a body in
accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior written consent.

Bernard Gauci (Partner) for and on behalf of

KSi Malta
Certified Public Accountants
Balzan
27 June 2022
10
& N
6, Villa Gauci, Mdina Road. Baizan, BZNS031, Malta (EU) v Morison KSi

Tel: +356 21 226 176 | Fax: +356 2122 6019 | info@ksimalta.com | www.ksimalta.com



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Restated
Note (12 months) (7 ¥ months) (12 months) (7 Y2 months)
€ € € €
Revenue 8 4,780,931 980,509 - -
Cost of sales 91  (4,306,679) (855,250) - -
Gross profit 474,252 125,259 - -
Administration expenses 9.1  (1,072,689) (332,709) (43,463) (149,746)
Operating loss (598,437) (207,450) (43,463) (149,746)
Finance costs 9.2 (608,200) (55,723) (172,682) (44,843)
Loss before tax (1,206,637) (263,173) (216,145) (194,589)
Income tax 10 (193,570) 83,842 - -
Loss for the year/ period (1,400,207) (179,331) (216,145) (194,589)
Other Comprehensive Income for the year/ period
Other Comprehensive Income for the year/ period net of
income tax 10,421,499 - - -
Total comprehensive income/ (expense) for the year/
period 9,021,292 (179,331) (216,145) (194,589)
Profit/ Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 9,021,292 (179,331) (216,145) (194,589)
Earnings per share 1 (0.11) (149.44) (0.02) (162.16)
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2021

Assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment in subsidiaries
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Other borrowings
Trade and other payables

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets/(liabilities)

Note

12
18

13.4

13.6
14.1

144

142
143

13.5

14.3

14.2

Group Company
2020
2021 Restated 2021 2020
€ € € €

62,920,256 44,171,460 - -
- - 19,938,956 5,150,000
437,652 83,842 - =
63,357,908 44,255,302 19,938,956 5,150,000
87,750 51,621 “ “
1,101,933 1,382,631 80,990 -
519,274 68,835 1,200 1,200
1,708,957 1,503,087 82,190 1,200
65,066,865 45,758,389 20,021,146 5,151,200
422,320 - = -
30,770,040 20,234,614 4,831,697 4,592,901
3,400,000 1,700,000 - -
34,592,360 21,934614 4,831,697 4,592 901
4,032,684 9,088,952 727,418 749,286
4,050,759 1,365,053 82,607 2,402
8,083,443 10,454,005 810,025 751,688
42,675,803 32,388,619 5,641,722 5,344,589
22,391,062 13,369,770 14,379,424 (193,389)
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

Equity

Share capital
Revaluation reserve
Other reserve
Reorganisation reserve

Accumulated losses
Equity attributable to owners of the
Company/(Deficiency)

Note

151
15.2
15.3
154

Group Company
2021 ... 2021 2020
€ € € €
14,676,284 1200 14,676,284 1,200
10,421,499 . . ]

- 14,788,958 x
(1,241,057)  (1,241,057) 5 ;
(1,465,664)  (179,331) _ (296,860)  (194,589)
22,391,062 13,369,770 _ 14,379,424  (193,389)

The financial statements set out on pages 11 to 58 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27

June 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

JE—

=
2\ G 5</

Dr Sarah Cassar

Director

p— )

o>

Mr Edward Vella

Director

\ —
\/‘:-_--‘L’L‘J-—"““--—#f .
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Statements of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group

Issue of share capital
Assignment of waiver of loan
Movement in revaluation reserve

Profit for the period

Balance at 31 December 2020

Prior year adjustment (note 4.3)
Balance at 31 December 2020 as
restated

Loss for the year

Revaluation of land and buildings
net of deferred taxation

Issue of share capital

Reduction in share capital

Balance at 31 December 2021

Company

Changes in equity for 2020
Issue of share capital
Loss for the period

Balance at 31 December 2020
Other comprehensive loss for the
year

Issue of share capital
Reduction in share capital

Balance at 31 December 2021

Share Reorganisation  Revaluation Other Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve earnings
€ € € € € €
1,200 - - - - 1,200
- - - 14,172,941 - 14,172,941
- - (841,640) - - (841,640)
- - - - 90,349 90,349
1,200 - (841,640) 14,172,941 90,349 13,422,850
- (1,241,057) 841,640 616,017 (269,680) (53,080)
1,200 (1,241,057) - 14,788,958 (179,331) 13,369,770
- - - - (1,400,207) (1,400,207)
- - 10,421,499 - - 10,421,499
14,788,958 - - (14,788,958) - -
(113,874) . E 5 113,874 -
14,676,284 (1,241,057) 10,421,499 - (1,465,664) 22,391,062
Share Retained Total
capital earnings
€ € €
1,200 - 1,200
- (194,589) (194,589)
1,200 (194,589) (193,389)
- (216,145) (216,145)
14,788,958 - 14,788,958
(113.874) 113,874 -
14,676,284 (296,860) 14,379,424
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation

Expected credit losses

Interest expense

Operating loss before working capital changes:

Movement in trade and other receivables
Movement in inventories

Movement in trade and other payables

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Issue of shares

Payment for property, plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank loan
Receipts from related parties

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year/period

Cash and cash equivalents acquired by the Group

Expected credit losses on bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/ period

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Restated i
(12 months) (7% months) (12 months) (7% months)
Note € € € €

(1,206,637) (263,173) (216,145) (194,589)
411,610 26,573 - -

8,112 - : =

565,184 44,843 172,682 44,843
(221,731) (191,757) (43,463) (149,7486)
275,726 (955,305) (80,990) -
(36,128) (51,621) . .
2,790,131 1,336,590 80,206 2,400
2,807,998 137,907 (44,247) (147,346)

- (44,843) - (44,843)

2,807,998 93,064 (44,247) (192,189)

- (5,150,000) . -

- 1,200 - 1,200
(7,586,289) (3,064,303) - -

(7,586,289) (8,213,103) - 1,200
2,032,969 2,786,756 - -

3,215,582 5,336,118 44,247 192,189

5,248,551 8,122,874 44,247 192,189
470,260 2,835 - 1,200
29,714 26,879 1,200 -
(3,141) - - -
14 496,833 29,714 1,200 1,200
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 REPORTING ENTITY AND OTHER INFORMATION

St. Anthony Co. p.l.c. (the Company) (formerly St. Anthony Co. Limited) is a public limited liability company incorporated
in Malta. The registered office and the registration number of the Company are disclosed in the introduction to the
annual report. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) are described in the report of the
Directors.

2 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Company's and the Group's financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union. They were authorised for issue by the Company's board of directors on 27 June 2022.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for land and buildings, which are
stated at their revalued amounts.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the use of certain
accounting estimates. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Company's
and the Group's accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Details of the significant judgements and estimates are included in Note 5.

Details of the significant accounting policies are included in Note 6.

3 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented in Euro, which is also the Group and Company’s functional currency (being
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the company operates).

4 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) AND
PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

Standards and interpretations applied during the current year

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Group and the Company adopted new standards, amendments
and interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2021. The
adoption of the following standards did not result in significant changes to these financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 as amended in March 2021 - Leases — COVID 19 — Related rent concessions. The
amendment to IFRS 16 provides relief to lessees for accounting for rent concessions from lessors specifically
arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. While lessees that elect to apply the practical expedient do not need to assess
whether a concession constitutes a modification, lessees still need to evaluate the appropriate accounting for each
concession as the terms of the concession granted may vary. Neither the Group nor the Company received any Covid-
19 related rent concessions.
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

4 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) AND
PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (continued)

4.1 Standards and interpretations applied during the current year (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (effective on
or after 1 January 2021; Early adoption is permitted).

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is
actually replaced. In respect of the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, the IASB
introduced a practical expedient for modifications required by the reform (modifications required as a direct
consequence of the IBOR reform and made on an economically equivalent basis). These modifications are
accounted for by updating the effective interest rate. All other modifications are accounted for using the current IFRS
requirements. These amendments enable entities to reflect the effects of transitioning from interbank offered rates
(IBOR) to alternative benchmark interest rates (also referred to as ‘risk free rates' or RFRs) without giving rise to
accounting impacts that would not provide useful information to users of financial statements. Neither the Company nor
the Group have any financial assets, financial liabilites or lease liabilities with rates subject to the IBOR reform
and accordingly this Amendment did not affect these financial statements.

4.2 Standards issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of

these financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to adopt these new and amended
standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

The Directors are of the opinion that the adoption of these Standards (where applicable) will not have a material impact
on the financial statements.
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) AND

4 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (continued)

4.3 Prior year adjustments ~ change in accounting policy and restatement of errors

As further disclosed in Note 20, a group reorganisation took place in 2020. During the current year, the Group changed
its accounting policy for the Group reorganisation so as to consistently apply the predecessor accounting method
throughout (as opposed to a combination of this method and acquisition accounting). Predecessor accounting provides
reliable and more relevant information as the Group reorganisation comprises a reorganisation of entities under
common control. Accordingly, the amount previously recognised in other income as a bargain purchase, amounting to
€216,600, is being recognised within equity as a Reorganisation Reserve.

At the same time, the Group restated the prior year financial statements to reverse an adjustment for certain reserves
which arose after the reorganisation (which were otherwise treated as pre-acquisition reserves), which adjustment,
amounting to €53,080, was originally recognised as an intangible asset and to recognise the deferred tax implications on
the revaluation of the property, amounting to €841,640, as part of the group reorganisation adjustments at the date of
the reorganisation and not thereafter.

Simultaneously with these adjustments, an amount of €616,017, comprising the excess of consideration payable by one
of the subsidiaries for the acquisition of certain operations, was recognised within equity as a Reorganisation Reserve
using the pooling of interests methed, which amount was waived by Goldvest Company Limited to Casa Antonia
Limited, as further disclosed in Note 4.3, and thus transferred to Other Reserves.

The Group financial statements of 2020 have been restated to apply the voluntary change in accounting policy and to
correct the abovementioned errors. The effect of the restatement on those financial statements is summarised below.
There is no effect in 2021.

Group

Effect on 2020

(7 ¥2 months)

€

Decrease in other income originally presented as a bargain purchase 216,600
Reversal of post-acquisition loss 53,080
Decrease in profit 269,680
(Increase) in other comprehensive income and in revaluation reserves (841,640)
(Increase) in total comprehensive income (571,960)
Increase in other reserve (616,017)
Decrease in reorganisation reserve 1,241,057
Decrease in equity (53,080)
Decrease in intangibles (53,080)

The Group basic earnings per share for 2020 was likewise adjusted to (€149.44)
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

5 USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates that affect the application of
the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

5.1 Judgements

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

= Estimation of current tax payable and current tax expense — note 10,
* Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment — note 13.1;
« Recognition of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) — note 13.4 and 13.5;

6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6.1 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
6.1.1 Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
holding company.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the parent company has control. The parent company controls an entity when it
is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Unless the Group applies a different accounting policy for combinations of entities or businesses under common control,
the acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The consideration is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the acquirer in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred, except for costs to issue debt or equity securities. The acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except as
otherwise required by IFRS 3. A contingent liability assumed in a business combination is recognised at the acquisition
date if there is a present obligation that arises from past events and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the parent company.

Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at the present ownership
instruments' proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. All other components of non-controlling
interests shall be measured at their acquisition-date fair values, unless another measurement basis is required. After
initial recognition, non-controlling interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the
original business combination and the non-controlling interests' share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the
holding company's owners’ equity therein. Non-controlling interests in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of consolidated subsidiaries are also disclosed separately. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

25



St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
6.1 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

6.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
Combinations of entities or businesses under common control

For combinations of entities or businesses under common control, the acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for by
applying predecessor accounting. Under predecessor accounting, the acquiree's assets and liabilities are recognised at
their carrying amounts (as adjusted, where necessary, to align accounting policies), without any adjustments to reflect
fair values. No new goodwill is recognised as a result of the combination and the difference between the consideration
payable and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities is recognised directly in equity within Reorganisation
Reserves.

6.2 GOODWILL

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition
date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of
the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Gooduwill is tested for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

6.3 REVENUE

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

a) Provision of accommodation
b) Provision of services

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Amounts disclosed as
revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a promised
good or service to the customer.,

6.3.1 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is generated from the two retirement homes that provide nursing and accommodation to their clients.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY AMOUNTS

Transactions in currencies other than the Company's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the re-translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non- monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period, except for differences arising on the re-translation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are included within operating profit, except in the case of significant exchange
differences arising on investing or financing activities, which are classified within investment income, investment
losses or finance costs as appropriate.

6.5 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

To the extent that variable rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective cash
flow hedge of interest rate risk, the effective portion of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and
reclassified to profit or loss when the qualifying asset impacts profit or loss. To the extent that fixed rate borrowings are
used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective fair value hedge of interest rate risk, the capitalised
borrowing costs reflect the hedged interest rate.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

6.6 INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
6.6 INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in subsidiaries where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

6.7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, land and buildings are stated at fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
made for the entire class of land and buildings and with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, land and buildings are stated at fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subseguent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
made for the entire class of land and buildings and with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as an asset is
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation reserve. To the extent that the
increase reverses a decrease previously recognised in profit or loss for the same asset, the increase is first recognised
in profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. Decreases that reverse previous increases of the
same asset are first recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of the remaining surplus attributable to the
asset; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

Each year, the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to
profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset's original cost, net of tax, is reclassified from the property, plant and
equipment revaluation surplus to retained earnings.

The depreciation methods and useful lives used by the Group are disclosed in note 13.1.

The depreciation method applied and the assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from their use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition
are determined by comparing the net disposal proceeds, if any, with the carrying amount. These are included in profit
or loss in the period of derecognition. When revalued assets are derecognised, it is the Group's policy to transfer any
attributable revaluation remaining in the revaluation reserve in respect of those assets to retained earnings.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the
asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Expenditure on an intangible asset is recognised as an expense in the
period when it is incurred unless it forms part of the cost of the asset that meets the recognition criteria or
the item is acquired in a business combination and cannot be recognised as an intangible asset, in which case it
forms part of goodwill at the acquisition date.

The useful life of intangible assets is assessed to determine whether it is finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with a
finite useful life are amortised. Amortisation is charged to profit or loss so as to write off the cost of intangible assets
less any estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives. The amortisation method applied, the
residual value and the useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from their use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any,
and the carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

6.9 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation increase.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.10 INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined using the
weighted average cost basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories in the ordinary
course of business less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

6.11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the separate financial
statements of the Company. Dividends from the investment are recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries are tested for impairment in accordance with the accounting policy for “Impairment
of Tangible and Intangible Assets excluding Goodwill.”

6.12 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other financial assets are classified in the following measurement categories:

+ those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss) and
= those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The following financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost — trade receivables and cash balances.
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI'):

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Company and the Group do not hold any debt instruments which are subsequently measured at FVTOCI.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL'). The
Company and the Group do not hold any financial assets which are subsequently measured at FVTPL.Despite the
aforegoing, an entity may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a financial asset;

- an entity may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

- an entity may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an
‘accounting mismatch’).

The Company and the Group do not hold any financial assets with such elections / designations.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
6.12 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Recognition and Derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

Measurement

At initial recognition, a financial asset is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets measured at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables which do not have a significant financing component are initially measured at their transaction
price and are subsequently stated at their nominal value less any loss allowance for ECLs.

In respect of financial assets which are subsequently measured at amortised cost, appropriate allowances for expected
credit losses ('ECLs’) are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the accounting policy on ECLs. Changes in the
carrying amount as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses, impairment gains or losses and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

6.13 ECL's

A loss allowance for ECLs is recognised on the following — financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets
and debt instruments measured at FVTOCI (if any).

The amount of ECLs is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since the initial recognition.

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component (or for which the IFRS
15 practical expedient for contracts that are one year or less is applied), the simplified approach is applied and lifetime
ECL is recognised.

Where a collective basis is applied, the ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the general approach is applied and lifetime ECL is recognised when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance for that financial instrument is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (‘12m ECL'). The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition
instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECLs that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss for all financial assets with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying, except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the Fair value reserve and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.13ECL's
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date is compared with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, (including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort and, where applicable, the financial position of the
counterparties) is considered.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the credit risk on a financial asset is presumed to have increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless there is
reasonable and supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that demonstrates
otherwise.Despite the above assessment, it is assumed that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
Accordingly, for these financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.

Definition of default

The following are considered as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty, or

- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors in full (without taking into account any collateral held).

Irrespective of the above analysis, default is considered to have occurred when a financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. The 90 days past due presumption is rebutted since there is reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.13 ECL's (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

A financial asset is written off when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example when the counterparty has entered into bankruptcy or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 3 years passed due, whichever occured sooner.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

For financial assets, the credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that are expected to be received, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
ECLs represent the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information, where applicable. Where applicable, the financial position of the counterparties is also taken
into consideration.

Collective basis

If evidence of a significant increase in credit risk at the individual instrument level is not yet available, the assessment
of significant increases in credit risk is performed on a collective basis by considering information on, for
example, a group or sub-group of financial instruments.

Where reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort to measure lifetime ECL on
an individual instrument basis is not available, lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis. In such instances, the
financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.14 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

At initial recognition, a financial liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liability.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Subsequent to initial recognition, bank borrowings, debt securities in issue and loans payable are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting is immaterial. Trade
payables are classified with current liabilities and are stated at their nominal value unless the effect of discounting is
material, in which case trade payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

6.15 OFFSETTING

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settie on
a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

6.16 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the entity will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received.

6.17 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends to holders of equity instruments are recognised as liability in the period in which they are declared.
Dividends to holders of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

6.18 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable. Interest income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the company and these can be measured reliably.

6.19 DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder's right to receive payment is established. Dividend income is
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the company and these can be
measured reliably.
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group entities contribute towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation. The only obligation is to
make the required contributions. Costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

6.21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the company's cash management are

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are
presented in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
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8 REVENUE
The Group derives its revenue as disclosed in note 6.3 and as per below;
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 2 months) (12 months) (7 ¥ months)
€ € € €
Income from accommodation 3,769,056 762,572 ) )
Income from services 1,011,875 217,937 - -
4,780,931 980,509 - -
9 EXPENSE ITEMS
9.1 Breakdown of expenses by nature
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

(12 months) (7 Y2 months)

(12 months) (7 %2 months)

Cost of sales € € € €
Food beverages and supplies 323,200 51,148 - -
Depreciation 411,610 26,573 - -
Salaries (Note 1) 2,583,095 586,529 - -
Other expenses 477,947 107,561 - -
Outsourced services 177,824 29,001 - 5
Repairs and maintenance 75,946 20,400 - -
Utilities 257,057 34,038 - -

4,306,679 855,250 . -
Administrative expenses
Advertising and promotions 163,517 23,160 - -
Audit and professional fees 110,738 135,571 32,763 119,192
Communication and service support 55,792 10,899 - -
Other expenses 29,842 84,245 1,200 30,555
Rent and lease of equipment (inclusive of
irrecoverable VAT) 227,945 35,275 - -
Salaries and directors' fees (Note 1) 484,855 43 559 9,500 -

1,072,689 332,709 43,463 149,746
Note 1:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 2 months) (12 months) (7 ¥ months)
€ € € €

Staff costs:
Salaries 2,578,677 507,239 g -
Directors' fees 151,070 38,374 - =
Social security costs 338,203 84 476 - =

3,067,950 630,088 - -
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9 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS (continued)

9.1 Breakdown of expenses by nature (continued)

The average number of persons employed by the Group during the current period was as follows:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 2months) (12 months) (7 %2 months)
Note 1 (continued) Number Number Number Number
Operations 154 87 o =
Administrative 14 11 3 -
168 98 - -
Note 2:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 “2months) (12 months) (7 2 months)
€ € € €
Payable to the auditors of the Company:
Audit fees 21,079 16,839 3,540 1,888
Other assurance services - 229 - 100
Tax advisory services - 5,428 - 472
ther non-audit services other than other r
?er\?ices and tax advisory services b ) 4,862 i 1.725
21,079 27,358 3,540 4,185
9.2 Finance costs
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 2months) (12 months) (7 %2 months)
€ € € €
Bank charges 43,016 1,786 - -
Bank loan interest 317,899 9,094 - -
Interest on amount due to ultimate parent company 247,285 44,843 172,682 44,843
608,200 55,723 172,682 44,843
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10 INCOME TAX

11

10.1 Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Current tax:

Current tax on taxable income for the year/ period

Deferred tax:

Temporary differences arising on items of property,

plant and equipment

Temporary differences on property
Temporary differences arising on tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowances

Total income tax recognised in the
current vear/ period

10.2 Reconciliation of income tax
Loss before tax

Theoretical taxation expense at 35%
Rental income

Other differences

Disallowable expenses

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 %2 months) (12 months) (7 ¥z months)
€ € € €
414,415 83,842 - -
547,382 - - -
(768,227) - - -
193,570 83,842 - u
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Restated

(12 months) (7 2 months)

(12 months) (7 ¥z months)

(1,206,637)  (263,173) (216,145)  (194,589)
(422,323) (73,532) (75,651) (68,106)
(76,731) (17,850) s -
552,852 175,225 . 3
139,772 73,532 . 68,106
193,570 157,375 (75,651) -

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the results attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year/ period.

Loss for the year/period

Weighted number of ordinary shares

Basic earnings per share

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Restated
(12 months) (7 % months) (12 months) (7 %2 months)
€ € € €

(1,400,207) (179,331) (216,145) (194,589)
13,027,849 1,200 13,027,849 1,200
(0.11) (149.44) (0.02) (162.16)
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St. Anthony Co. p.l.c.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

13.1 Depreciation

Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets are available for use and is charged to profit or loss.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of the residual
values, over the estimated useful lives, as follows:

%

Buildings 1
Plant, machinery and other 2
equipment 5-25
Furniture and fittings 5-10

No depreciation is charged on land.

13.2 Fair value measurement of the Group’s land and buildings

The Group's land and building are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less
any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of land and buildings that would have been included in the financial statements had these assets
been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses is €52,016,181 (2020 —
€37,947 917).

The fair value measurement of the Group's land and buildings as at 31 December 2021 were performed by Architect
and Civil Engineer Charles Buhagiar, an independent valuer not related to the Company. The fair value of the land and
building was determined based on a mix of the market comparable approach that reflects the price per square meter
achieved for properties with similar characteristics and location and by discounting the expected future cashflows, to be
derived from the operations of these properties.

When calculating the value per square meter of the Sliema property one needs to bear in mind that more than one third
of the Gross Floor Area pertains to parking and terraces which is not the case for the Balzan property. After applying a
different relevant rate to these these areas, the rate per square meter of the Sliema property would increase to €1,384.
Furthermore, the Balzan property has a successful history of operating as a Home for the Aged and therefore the future
cashflows could be more reliably calculated. In the case of the Sliema operations, given that this is a new business
operation and occupancy is expected to be increased gradually, the valuation has not been materially impacted by the
future expected cashflows.
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13 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

13.3 Fair value measurement of the Group’s land and buildings (continued)
Group

2021

Property:
Casa Antonia, Pope Alexander VIl Street, Balzan, Malta
1, Trig Rodolfu, Sliema, Malta

2020

Property:
Casa Antonia, Pope Alexander VIl Street, Balzan, Malta
1, Trig Rodolfu, Sliema, Malta

Fair value
Level 3

€

20,170,242
30,675,633

50,845,875

15,130,780
23,547,916
38,678,696

The table below includes further information about the Group's Level 3 fair value measurements:

Significant unobservable
input
€

Casa Antonia, Pope Alexander V| Street, Balzan Price per square metre of
€2,241
(2020 - €1889)

1, Trig Rodolfu, Sliema Price per square metre of
€1,384
(2020 - €725)

Narrative sensitivity
€

The higher the price per
square metre, the higher
the fair value

The higher the price per
square metre, the higher
the fair value
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13 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

13.4 Deferred tax assets

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Opening balance:
Other temporary differences 83,842 - - -
For the year/ period
Other temporary differences 353,810 83,842 i 5
Closing balance:
Other temporary differences 437,652 83,842 - =
13.5 Deferred tax liabilities
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € < €
Acquired by the group
Temporary difference on property,
plant and equipment 1,700,000 858,360 - %
Movement for the year/ period
Temporary difference on property, plant and
equipment 1,700,000 841,640 - =
Closing balance:
Temporary difference on property,
plant and equipment 3,400,000 1,700,000 - o
13.6 Inventories
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Foods, beverages and supplies 87,750 51,621 S 5
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14 OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

14.1 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €

Current assets
Trade receivables 816,531 190,186 - -
Other receivables 219,390 1,161,557 80,990 =
Prepayments 66,012 30,888 - -

1,101,933 1,382,631 80,990 -

14.1.1 Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for seftlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.

The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subseauently at amortised cost usina the effective interest method.

14.2 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €

Non - Current liabilities
Other payables 422,320 - - -
Current liabilities
Trade payables 1,164,152 839,183 51,133 -
Other payables 937,616 467,844 1,900 -
Accruals 1,948,991 58,026 29,574 2,402

4,050,759 1,365,053 82,607 2,402

Notes:

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 90 days of recognition.

A substantial amount of trade payables and accruals relate to capital projects which will be funded by bond proceeds in
2022.
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14 OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

14.3 Other borrowings

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Unsecured
Current liabilities
Amounts due to ultimate owner (note c) 82,755 82,755 - -
Amounts due to ultimate parent (note c) 3,927,488 8,967,076 711,229 -
Amounts due to subsidiary (note c) - - 16,189 749,286
4,010,243 9,049,831 727,418 749,286

Secured
Current liabilities
Bank balance overdrawn (note b) 22,441 39,121 - -
Total secured/unsecured current borrowings 4,032,684 9,088,952 727,418 749,286
Unsecured
Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to ultimate parent (note c) 13,095,363 4,592,908 4,831,697 4,592,906

13,095,363 4 592 906 4,831,697 4,592,906
Secured
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans (note a) 17,674,677 15,641,708 - -
Total secured/unsecured non-current borrowings 30,770,040 20,234,614 4,831,697 4,592,906
Total borrowings 34,802,724 29,323,566 5,559,115 5,342,192
Note:

a) Bank loans
The Group enjoys bank loan facilities with its bankers. These facilities are secured by general hypothecs over the

Group's assets, by special hypothecs over properties of the Group, by pledges taken over various insurance policies
and by personal guarantees of the certain directors and shareholders. The annual interest rate on bank loan is 3.5%.
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14 OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)
14.3 Other Borrowings (continued)
b) Bank overdraft

The Group enjoys bank overdraft facilities with its bankers of €1,818. These facilities are secured by general hypothecs
over the Group's assets, by special hypothecs over properties of the Group, by pledges taken over various insurance
policies and by personal guarantees of the directors and shareholders. The annual interest rate on the bank overdraft is
5.15%.

c) Amounts due to Ultimate Parent (Casa Antonia Limited)

- Amounts due to Ultimate Parent amounting to €213,250 in respect to working capital facilities is unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.

- Amounts due to Ultimate Parent on the sale and transfer of shares held in Goldvest Ltd to St. Anthony Plc. of
€5,150,000 bearing an interest rate of 3.5% per annum repayable on monthly installments of €40,129 as from 23rd
October 2020.

- Amount payable to the Ultimate Parent amounting to €3,000,000 as part of the purchase price for the Casa
Antonia Property was formally recognised by means of a loan agreement. This loan is unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

- Loans taken by the Ultimate Parent under the COVID - 19 Assist loans, put towards the opening costs of
Property held within the Group were formerly transfered to Goldvest Ltd. (subsidiary). These loans are to hold the same
interest and repayment conditions as held by Casa Antonia Limited with the Bank. Loans are unsecured, hold an
interest of 2.5%, of which 2.4% is recovered through Government for the first two years. Interest on these loans is
reported net of refund. Loans are repayable within 6 years.

- Amounts owed by one of the subsidiaries to the Ultimate Parent in relation to refurbishing of the Sliema Property
was recognised as a loan. The loan of €2,771,000 is unsecured, holds an interest of 2.5% higher than the 3 month
Euribor rate per annum, subject to a minimum Euribor floor rate of zero. The loan is to be repaid in monthly installments
by 2034.

- An unsecured amount of €506,474 outstanding and owed by Group to Ultmate Parent was regularised into a loan
agreement. Loan is interest free and to be repaid by 2028.

14.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €

Current assets

Cash at bank and in hand 519,274 68,835 1,200 1,200
14.4.1 Reconciliation to cash flow statement

Cash at bank and in hand (note 14.4) 519,274 68,835 1,200 1,200
Bank balance overdrawn (note 14.3) (22,441) (39,121) - -
Balances per statement of cash flows 496,833 29,714 1,200 1,200
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15 EQUITY
15.1 Share capital
2021 2020
. € €
Authorised
2,499,999 Ordinary A Shares of €1 each 2,499,999 2,499,999
1 Ordinary B Share of €1 each 1 1
20,000,000 Ordinary C Shares of €1 each 20,000,000 20,000,000
7,500,000 Ordinary D Shares of €1 each 7,500,000 7,500,000

30,000,000 30,000,000

Called-up, issued and fully paid

1,199 Ordinary 'A' Shares of € 1 each 1,199 1,199
1 Ordinary 'B' Shares of €1 each 1 1
14,675,084 Ordinary 'C' Shares of €1 each 14,675,084 B

14,676,284 1,200

Except for Ordinary B Shares, all classes of Ordinary Shares have full voting rights, right for distribution of profits and
right for capital upon dissolution of the Company

Ordinary B Shares have the right for capital distribution upon dissoution of the Company.

15.2 Revaluation reserve 2021 2020

€ €
Gross revaluation 11,574,117 -
Deferred tax movement (1,152,618) s
Net revaluation 10,421,499 A

15.3 Other reserve

The other reserve consists of the waiver in 2020 of loans payable from Goldvest Company Limited to Casa Antonia
Limited. In 2021, this amount was assigned to St. Anthony Co p.l.c. and capitalised.
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15 EQUITY (continued)
156.4 Reorganisation Reserve

As disclosed in Note 20, the reorganisation reserve arose in 2020 as part of the group reorganisation and is made up of
(a) the excess €616,017 of the consideration payable by St. George's Care Limited for the acquisition of the net assets;
and (b) the excess €625,040 of the consideration payable by St. Anthony Co. p.l.c. for the acquisition of Goldvest
Company Limited.

16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
16.1 Financial risk management objectives

The Group's and the Company's activities potentially expose them to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's and the Company's financial performance. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering risks referred to above and specific areas such as investment of
excess liquidity. The Group and the Company did not make use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures during the current and preceding financial year.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group and the Company were not exposed to price risk in relation to financial
assets subsequently measured at FVTPL or at FVTOCI because they did not hold any of these financial assets.

Where applicable, any significant changes in the Group's or the Company's exposure to financial risks or the manner in
which these risks are managed and measured are disclosed below.

Where possible, the Group aims to reduce and control risk concentrations. Concentrations of financial risk arise when
financial instruments with similar characteristics are influenced in the same way by changes in economic or other
factors. The amount of the risk exposure associated with financial instruments sharing similar characteristics is
disclosed in more detail in the notes to the financial statements.

16.2 Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The Group and the Company have no significant
currency risk since substantially all assets and liabilities are denominated in Euro.

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
the market interest rates on their financial position, financial performance and cash flows. As at the reporting date, the
Group and the Bank have cash at bank, as disclosed in Note 14.4 and the Group and the Company also have variable
interest-bearing liabilities and fixed interest-bearing liabilities as disclosed in Note 14.3.

The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on financial instruments carrying a
floating interest rate. The Group and the Company are not exposed to fair value interest rate risk since none of their
financial instruments carrying a fixed rate are measured at fair value.

Management monitors the movement in interest rates and, where possible, reacts to material movements in such rates
by adiustina its sellina prices or by restructurina its financina structure.
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16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
16.2 Market risk (continued)

For financial instruments held or issued, the Group and the Company have used a sensitivity analysis technique that
measures the change in the cash flows of the company’s financial instruments at the end of the reporting year/
period for hypothetical changes in the relevant market risk variables. The sensitivity due to changes in the relevant risk
variables is set out below. The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-looking estimates of market
risk assuming certain market conditions. Actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected results
due to the inherent uncertainty of global financial markets. The sensitivity analysis is for illustrative purposes only,
as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation and are likely to be interdependent.

The estimated change in fair values and cash flows for changes in market interest rates are based on an instantaneous
increase or decrease of 100 basis points at the end of the reporting period, with all other variables remaining constant.

The sensitivity of the relevant risk variables, on an after tax basis is as follows:

Group Company
Profit or Loss Profit or Loss
Sensitivity Sensitivity
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Market interest rates — cash flow +/- 175k +/- 155k - -

16.3 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. Financial assets which potentially expose the Group to credit risk include trade receivables and amounts
held with financial institutions (notes 14.1 and 14.4). The maximum credit exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
in respect of the financial assets was as follows:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Trade and other receivables 1,101,933 1,382,631 80,990 -
Cash at bank 519,274 68,835 1,200 1,200
1,621,207 1,451,466 82,190 1,200
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16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

16.3 Credit risk (continued)

Receivables and cash at bank are presented net of an allowance for doubtful debts using an ECL model.

The tables below detail, by credit risk rating grades, the gross carrying amount of financial assets.

Group 12m  Lifetime Lifetime Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
(not (credited-
éraiittad. impaired (credit-
impaired) but not POCI)
POChH
€ € € €

Bank balances
External rating grades

BBB BBB
Gross carrying amount at 31 December 2021 506,823 - - -
Loss allowance at 31 December 2021 (3,141) - - -
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 503,682 - “ -
Group 12m  Lifetime Lifetime Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
(not (credited-
crisdited- impaired (credit-
impaired) but not POCI)
P POCI)
€ € € €
Trade Debtors tested Individually
Gross carrying amount at 31 December 2021 335,790 324,095 115,573 -
Loss allowance at 31 December 2021 (197) (962) (3,814) -
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 335,592 323,133 111,759 %
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16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

16.3 Credit risk (continued)

Group Days past due - simplified approach
Not past <30 3160 61-90  91-120 Total
due

Expected credit loss rate 0.03% 0.07% 0.16% 0.70% 3.30%

Estimated total gross carrying

amount at default 83,665 252,125 241,236 82,859 115,573 775,457

Lifetime ECL at 31 December 2021 (21) (176) (386) (576) (3,814) (4,973)

Net carrying amount at 31

December 2021 83,644 251,948 240,850 82,283 111,759 770,484

Credit losses

Group 2021 2020
€ €

Impairment loss on trade receivables 4,973 -

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECLs that has been recognised for trade receivables in accordance
with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9:

Group Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credlt-lmppg::r;d RUCHoL
Trade receivables Trade receivables
no SFC no SFC no SFC no SFC
(Collective) (Individual) (Collective) (Individual)
€ € € €

Opening balance at 1 January 2021 - - - -
Resulting from new originations during the year 1,159 - 3,814 -
Closing balance at 31 December 2021
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16

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

16.4 Liquidity risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated
with their financial liabilities, which comprise principally debt securities in issue, other borrowings and trade
and other payables (notes 14.2 and 14.3).

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash to ensure the availability of an adequate
amount of funding to meet the Group's and the Company's obligations and ensuring that alternative funding is
available when the loans are due for repayment.

The following tables analyses the Group's and the Company's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

The amounts disclosed in the tables below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balance due within 12
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Group

At 31 December
2021

Trade and other
payables

Bank loans

Bank overdraft
Amounts due to
ultimate parent
Amounts due to
ultimate owner

Group

At 31 December
2020

Trade and other
payables

Bank loans
Bank overdraft
Amounts due to
ultimate parent
Amounts due to
ultimate owner

Between
Carrying Contractual Oti domand Within one t\_No After five
amounts cash flows year and five years
years
€ € € € € €
4,473,079 4,473,079 4,473,079 4,050,759 422,320 -
17,674,677 17,674,677 - - 3,786,611 13,888,066
22,441 22,441 22,441 22,441 - -
17,022,851 17,022,851 3,927,488 3,927,488 6,092,387 7,002,976
82,755 82,755 82,755 82,755 - -
39,275,803 39,275,803 8,505,763 8,083,443 10,301,319 20,891,042
g oo Between
Carrying Contractual On demand Within one tWo-and Mve After five
amounts cash flows year years
years
€ € € € € 3
1,365,053 1,365,053 1,365,053 1,365,053 - -
15,641,708 15,641,708 - - 3,081,239 12,560,469
39,121 39,121 39,121 39,121
13,559,982 13,559,982 8,967,076 8,967,076 1,926,192 2,666,714
82,755 82,755 82,755 82,755 - -
30,688,619 30688619 10,454,005 10,454,005 5,007,431 15,227,183
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16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
16.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

Between

Carrying Contractual On Within one # After five
two and five
amounts cashflows demand year years
Company yoars
€ € € € € €
At 31 December 2021
Amounts due to
ultimate parent 5,542,926 5,542,926 714,229 714,229 1,638,315 3,193,382
Amount due to
subsidiary 16,189 16,189 16,189 16,189 - -
Trade and other
payables 82,607 82,607 82,607 82,607 - -
5,641,722 5,641,722 813,025 813,025 1,638,315 3,193,382
Company Carrying Contractual On demand Within one twoB;h::Ii: After five
amounts cash flows year years
years
€ € € € € €
At 31 December 2020
Amounts due to
ultimate parent 4,592 906 4,592,906 - - 1,926,212 2,666,694
Amount due to
subsidiary 749,286 749,286 749,286 749,286
Trade and other
payables 2,402 2,402 2,402 2,402 - -

5,344,594 5,344,594 751,688 751,688 1,926,212 2,666,694

16.4.1 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities classified with current
assets and current liabilities respectively approximated their fair values due to the short term maturities of these assets
and liabilities.
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16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

16.4.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

Group

2021
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- Bank loans

- Amounts due to related parties

Group

2020

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- Bank loans

- Amounts due to related parties

Company

2021
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- Amounts due to related parties

Company

2020
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- Amounts due to related parties

Fair value measurement at end of the
reporting period

using:
Levell Level 2 Level 3
€ € €
- 17,674,677 .
- 17,105,606 -

Fair value measurement at end of the
reporting period

using:
Levell Level 2 Level 3
€ € €
- 15,641,708 -
- 13,642,737 -

Fair value measurement at end of the
reporting period

using:
Levell Level 2 Level 3
€ € €
- 5,559,115 -

Fair value measurement at end of the
reporting period

using:
Level1 Level 2 Level 3
€ € €
- 5,342,192 -
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17 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concern, while

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (borrowings as detailed in notes 14.3 and 14.4 offset by cash and
bank balances) and equity (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings as detailed in notes 15).

17.1 Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Debt (i) 34,802,724 29,323,566 5,559,115 5342192
Cash and bank balances 496,833 29,714 1,200 1,200
Net debt 34,305,891 29,353,280 5,557,915 5343392
Equity (i) 22,391,062 13,369,770 14,379,424 (193,389)
Net debt to equity ratio 1.53 2.20 0.39 -

Notes:

(i) Debtis defined as long-and short-term borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital.
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES Company
The investment in group undertakings is as follows: €
Cost
At 18 May 2020 “
Additions 5,150,000
31 December 2020 5,150,000
Additions 14,788,956
31 December 2021 19,938,956

An intercompany debt by Goldvest Ltd. to St. Anthony Co p.l.c. was settled through the issue and allotment of 6,348,900
Ordinary C shares of a nominal value of €2.329373 each in favour of St. Anthony Co p.l.c.

18.1 Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Proportion of ownership

Name of subsidiary Principal activity Registered office interest and voting power
held
2020 & 2021
Goldvest Company Limited Property company 1, Hotel Imperial Trig Rodolfu, Sliema 100%

To operate homes for Casa Antonia, Pope Alexander

StGeorge's Care Lid the elderly VIl Junction, Balzan 100%
Capital and reserves
2021 2020
€ €
Goldvest Company Limited 20,009,021 4772,204
St.George's Care Ltd 1,747,096 (917,412)
Profit / (loss) Profit / (loss)
2021 2020
€ €
Goldvest Company Limited 447,860 (559,363)
St.George's Care Ltd 2,664,508 (302,595)
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19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
St. Anthony Co. p.l.c. is the parent company of the undertakings in note 18.

The parent and ultimate parent company are Casa Antonia Limited and Edoardo Company Limited respectively, which are all
incorporated in Malta. The ultimate controlling party is Mr Edward Vella.

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

19.1 Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the year/ period was as follows:

Group
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Directors’ remuneration 224,218 43,559 9,500 -

19.2 Related party balances
The related party balances are included in Note 14.3 and the interest thereon is included in Note 9.2.

The terms and conditions in respect of the related party balances do not specify the nature of the consideration to be provided
in settlement. No guarantees have been given or received.

19.3 Transactions with subsidiary

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Fees payable
Rent payable to related company 1,260,400 300,900 - -

19.4 Group reorganisation

Details about the group reorganisation which took place in 2020 are disclosed in Note 20.

20 GROUP REORGANISATION

During 2020, the Group commenced a corporate restructuring aimed at streamlining operations of its subsidiaries. As part of
this exercise, the Group incorporated St. Anthony Co. p.l.c. as the holding company on 18 May 2020. Goldvest Company
Limited and the newly incorporated St. George's Care Limited are subsidiaries of the Company. Goldvest Company Limited
owns all properties of the Group, whilst St. George's Care Limited is in charge of the operations of the Group. St. Anthony Co.
p.l.c. besides being the holding company will also act as the finance company.

As part of the group reorganisation, Casa Antonia Limited transferred the Casa Antonia property to Goldvest Company Limited
for a consideration of €17million. Casa Antonia Limited transferred its shareholding in Goldvest Company Limited to St. Anthony
Co. p.l.c. for a consideration of €5.15million and its going concern operations to St. George's Care Limited for a consideration of
€1 million.
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20 GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)

21

As further disclosed in Note 4, the group reorganisation is accounted for using predecessor accounting and any difference
between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities acquired and the consideration payable is recognised directly in
Equity within the Reorganisation Reserve.

Group

2020

€

Equipment and moveable items 200,110

Inventories 34,260

Trade and other receivables 192,138

Trade and other payables (39,959)

386,549

Consideration payable 1,002,566

Excess of consideration payable over net assets acquired 616,017
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 10th January 2022 the Company successfully raised €15,500,000 via the issue of 4.55% Secured Bonds due to mature in
2032. These instruments started trading on the Malta Stock Exchange on 21st January 2022. These funds were used to
restructure the Group debt and for general corporate funding purposes.

The military conflict between Russia and Ukraine in February 2022, has resulted in increased volatility in commodities,
securities and currencies and the EU and other countries imposing restrictive measures against Russia and key Russian
individuals. The Group does not have any direct exposure to Russia however the Group may be negatively affected by
unforeseen material increases in food and other supplies.

The negative effect caused by the COVID pandemic since the outbreak in early 2020 continued to subside in 2022, as most of
the restrictions imposed by governments globally have been lifted.
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Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Expenses
Administrative expenses
Finance cost

Loss before tax

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
(12 months) (7 ¥2 months) (12 months) (7 % months)
€ € € €
4,780,931 980,509
(4,306,679) (855,250)
474,252 125,259 - -
(1,072,689) (332,709) (43,463) (149,746)
(608,200) (55,722) (172,682) (44,843)
(1,206,637) (263,172) (216,145) (194,589)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss — Expenses Schedule
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group Company
(12 months) (7 “2months) (12 months) (7 % months)
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €
Cost of sales
Cleaning 20,085 2,545 “ =
Clergy 5,132 712 - =
Crockery 5,886 1,767 - 2
Depreciation 411,610 26,573 - -
Entertainment 25,670 9,645 - -
Food, beverages and supplies 323,200 51,148 - -
Gardening expenses 24,757 5732 - -
General expenses 55,583 2,509 - -
Gratitudes 13,737 630 - -
Hire of antiques 6,988 1,747 - -
Laundry 64,037 17,767 - -
Motor vehicle expenses 12,016 3,633 - -
Other direct costs 196,159 61,497 - -
Refuse collection 15,505 3,043 - =
Repairs and maintenance 75,946 20,400 - -
Sanitaries 113,998 22,860 - -
Salaries 2,583,095 586,529 - =
Security Services 61,405 - - -
Uniforms 34,813 2,475 - -
Water and electricity 257,057 34,038 - =
4,306,679 855,250 - 5
Group Company

(12 months) (7 Y2months) (12 months) (7 %2 months)
2021 2020 2021 2020
Administrative expenses € € € €
Advertising and promotion 163,517 23,160 - -
Audit fees 21,079 7,888 3,540 1,888
Communication expenses 20,106 1,305 - &

Directors' fees and remuneration 224,218 43,559 9,500
Formation expenses 5,876 30,525 1,200 30,554
Professional fees 50,009 124,450 29,223 117,304
Recruitment costs 39,650 3,233 - =
Rent and lease of equipment (inclusive of irrecoverable VAT) 227,945 35,275 - -
Reversal of pre acquisition loss - 53,080 - =
Service support 18,664 4,901 - =
Stationery 23,966 640 - -
Telecommunications 17,022 4,693 - =
Salaries 260,637 - - -

1,072,689 332,709 43,463 149,746
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Group Company

(12 months) (7 Y2 months) (12 months) (7 %2 months)
2021 2020 2021 2020
€ € € €

Finance cost
Bank charges 43,016 1,786 - -
Bank loan interest 317,899 9,094 - -
Interest on amount due to ultimate parent company 247,285 44,843 172,682 44,843
608,200 55,723 172,682 44,843
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